FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/6/2021 4:00 PM Supreme Court No. <u>100276-9</u> (COA No. 81024-3)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHAZ BUTLER,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TRAVIS STEARNS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Chaz Butler, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review. RAP 13.3; RAP 13.4.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Butler seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision, which is attached as an appendix. The Court of Appeals denied Mr. Butler's motion to reconsider on September 13, 2021.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the government fail to present sufficient evidence of an essential element of third-degree assault when it was unable to establish the complainants were employed by a "transit company" or a "contracted service provider?" 2. Was Mr. Butler deprived of his right to presenta defense when the trial court declined to provide hisproposed instruction on cross-racial identification?D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Securitas, a private security firm, employed Michael Bilodeau. He worked as a security officer in the light rail Beacon Hill station. When he arrived at the station on November 2, 2018, he heard a skateboard and followed the sound until he saw a person doing tricks near the elevator.

Mr. Bilodeau described the skateboarder as a Black man, over six feet tall and weighing about 200 pounds, with facial hair. Mr. Bilodeau told the skateboarder to stop, and the skateboarder swore at Mr. Bilodeau. The two people went back and forth until a bystander swore at the skateboarder. At that point, the skateboarder struck Mr. Bilodeau in the face with his fist. Mr. Bilodeau then called for help while the skateboarder got into the elevator and left.

On November 3, 2013, Kurtis Mays, a private security guard who worked in the Pioneer Square Transit Authority Station, was assaulted by an unidentified person. This man struck Mr. Mays in the face, knocking him to the ground.

Detectives initially suspected the assailant was a person named Michael Ross, who fit the physical description of the assailant. Mr. Bilodeau viewed a photo montage of persons, including Mr. Ross, but did not pick out a suspect. RP 494.

On November 10, 2013, a police officer spotted a man on Capitol Hill who fit the description of the person who had assaulted the two security guards. His physical characteristics were similar and he had duct tape on his shoe in the same location as the suspect. He also had a skateboard with a similar pattern of stickers affixed to the bottom of the deck. The officer arrested this man, who identified himself as Chaz Butler.

The government charged Mr. Butler with two counts of third-degree assault, alleging the security guards met the definition of a person employed by a "transit company" or a "contracted service provider." At his trial, Mr. Butler proposed an instruction on eye witness testimony and cited the cross-racial identification as a reason for giving the instruction. RP 659; CP 55-58. The court declined to give the instruction. RP 662.

The jury convicted Mr. Butler of both counts of third-degree assault, and the Court of Appeals upheld his conviction.

E. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should grant review of whether sufficient evidence supported the allegation that Securitas employees were "contracted transit service providers."

When the legislature amended the third-degree assault statute to include "contracted service providers," it carefully determined whom the expanded definition of third-degree assault would protect. Laws of 1999, Ch. 328. To find sufficient evidence of thirddegree assault, the Court of Appeals had to expand its definition of what it means to be employed by a "transit company" or a "contracted service provider" to include persons employed by neither. App. 7. As correctly interpreting the legislature's intent is an issue of substantial public interest, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4.

Because the legislature's definitions of "transit company" and "contracted service provider" are unambiguous, the Court of Appeals should have applied the plain meaning of those terms. RCW 9A.36.031(1)(b). Mr. Butler asks this Court to accept review of whether the Securitas employees were employed by a "transit company" or a "contracted service provider." Because they were not, Mr. Butler's conviction for third-degree assault should be dismissed for insufficient evidence.

The government understands that the Court of Appeals has expanded the definition of third-degree assault, making it easier to prove this crime than the legislature intended. Mtn. to Pub. at 2. It acknowledges that even though this decision is not published, it creates new law, which ultimately expands the definition of third-degree assault. *Id*.

Third-degree assault should not be expanded beyond the plain meaning of the statute. A court's

inquiry ends under traditional statutory analysis principles, where the statute's language is unambiguous. *State v. K.L.B.*, 180 Wn.2d 735, 739, 328 P.3d 886 (2014). In addition, terms are not read in isolation but in conjunction with the whole statute. *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 623, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). Further, when interpreting a statute, it must not be interpreted to leave any term meaningless or superfluous. *Jongeward v. BNSF Ry.*, 174 Wn.2d 586, 601, 278 P.3d 157 (2012).

Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals did not apply these canons of construction. To decide that Securitas employees are within the definition of third-degree assault, the Court of Appeals had to disregard these terms. By omitting the modifier "transit," the Court severed the charges from the transit service relationship. This omission resulted in a statute

divorced from its plain meaning and legislative intent. This Court should grant review to find that the terms "contracted" and "transit" are not meaningless in the definition of third-degree assault. *Jongeward*, 174 Wn.2d at 601.

Next, the Court of Appeals concluded that the phrase "contracted transit service provider" had to mean something other than a "transit company." App. 7. The Court reasoned that if the statute is read another way, it will "collapse the two statutory alternatives into one, ignoring the legislature's use of the disjunctive." *Id.* This analysis was incorrect.

A "transit" company and a "contracted transit service provider" can have similar meanings without collapsing the terms. Both have the key word "transit" in their definitions, meaning an entity providing transit services. A private transit company does not

have to be contracted, it can provide drivers and mechanics through different agreements. A contracted transit service provider must be under contract to provide transit services. A security guard hired by a private security company is neither of those. As such, the Securitas employees do not fall within the plain meaning of third-degree assault.

The role of the court is to interpret the plain meaning of words in a statute. *State v. Chapman*, 140 Wn.2d 436, 450, 998 P.2d 282, *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 984, 121 S. Ct. 438, 148 L. Ed. 2d 444 (2000). A statute that is clear on its face is not subject to judicial construction. *Id*. While the Court of Appeals opined that the legislature intended more than the words it added to the third-degree assault statute, it should not have gone beyond their plain meaning. In granting review, this Court should return to the plain meaning of the statute. Under this analysis, this Court should conclude that the government presented insufficient evidence of third-degree assault and order those charges dismissed.

This Court should grant review of the Court's of Appeals decision finding sufficient evidence of thirddegree assault. Applying the plain meaning canon of statutory construction, this Court should instead hold that the government failed to establish the Securitas guards were either employed by a "transit company" or a "contracted service provider."

2. This Court should grant review of whether Mr. Butler was entitled to a cross-racial identification instruction.

The Court of Appeals found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it did not provide the jury with the requested cross-racial identification instruction. App. 10. Under the Court of Appeals interpretation of this Court's plurality opinion in *State* v. Allen, 176 Wn.2d 611, 294 P.3d 679 (2013), there is unlikely ever to be a time when the refusal to provide a cross-racial identification instruction can be found to be an error. Because this analysis is contrary to this Court's interpretation of when a cross-racial identification instruction should be given to the jury, the Court of Appeals interpretation is in error. This Court should grant review of whether the failure to provide Mr. Butler with his requested cross-racial identification instruction entitles him to a new trial.

> a. The evidence supported the requested crossracial identification instruction.

Mr. Bilodeau, who presented as white, made his first identification of Mr. Butler, who is Black, at trial. RP Mr. Bilodeau's assailant was a stranger. RP 70, 493, 723. Mr. Bilodeau recognized his assailant was Black. RP 492. Otherwise, Mr. Bilodeau did not notice any distinguishing facial features. RP 70, 492-93. The interaction was brief – maybe five minutes - and the assailant's face was mostly hidden by a hooded sweatshirt and sunglasses. RP 70, 480; 492-93. The first identification of Mr. Butler by Mr. Bidoeau was at Mr. Butler's trial, where Mr. Butler was the only Black person in the courtroom. RP 58, 113, 661.

Mr. Butler proposed WPCI 6.52 and asked that the cross-racial identification be included. RP 659. The proposed language that Mr. Butler asked to have included the following:

The witness's familiarity or lack of familiarity with people of the perceived race or ethnicity of the perpetrator of the act.

CP 55-58, 66-67; 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 6.52, at 218 (5th ed. 2021) (WPIC). The trial court agreed to give an eyewitness instruction but did not include the language on race or ethnicity. RP 662; CP 117 (Instruction 6). The Court of Appeals upheld this decision, finding no abuse of discretion. App. 9.

This Court should grant review of whether this abuse of the court's discretion warrants a new trial.

b. The right to present a defense includes the right to have the jury instructed on the defense theory of the case

The state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to a fair trial. *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 224, 87 S. Ct. 1926, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1149 (1967); *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 843, 975 P.2d 967 (1999); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §3 , § 22. As part of this right, an accused person is "entitled to have the jury instructed on [his] theory of the case if there [is] evidence to support that theory." *State v. Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d 836, 848–49, 374 P.3d 1185 (2016) (quoting State v. Williams, 132 Wn.2d 248, 259–60, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997)).

In assessing whether the evidence is sufficient to support a proposed instruction, the court must "view the evidence in the light most favorable to the party that requested the instruction." *State v. Fernandez-Medina*, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-56, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000). Even if there is "only some evidence to satisfy the burden of production," the court must grant the requested instruction. *Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d at 852.

c. Mr. Butler was entitled to a cross-racial identification instruction.

The dangers of eyewitness identification testimony are undisputed; "the annals of criminal law are rife with instances of mistaken identification." *Wade*, 388 U.S. at 228; *Allen*, 176 Wn.2d at 616 (plurality opinion). Where cross-racial identification is involved, these problems are amplified, as the reliability of the identification is significantly diminished. John P. Rutledge, *They All Look Alike: The Inaccuracy of Cross-Racial Identifications*, 28 Am. J. Crim. L. 207, 211 (2001).

Evidence presented at Mr. Butler's trial demonstrated features of Mr. Bilodeau's attack and eyewitness identification correlate with an increased risk of cross-racial misidentification. Mr. Bilodeau's assailant was a stranger. RP 70, 493, 723. Mr. Bilodeau recognized his assailant was Black. RP 492. Otherwise, Mr. Bilodeau did not notice any distinguishing facial features. RP 70, 492-93. The interaction was brief – maybe five minutes - and the assailant's face was mostly hidden by a hooded sweatshirt and sunglasses. RP 70, 480; 492-93. Mr.

Bilodeau lost his glasses and vision after the first punch. RP 71-72, 477. Aside from the assailant's clothing, belongings, and build, the assailant's race was all Mr. Bilodeau could recall. Fourteen months later, Mr. Butler sat between his defense attorneys as the only Black person in the courtroom. RP 58, 113, 661.

In 2013, a plurality of this Court recognized that cross-racial identification instruction may be appropriate in certain circumstances but are not required by due process. *Allen*, 176 Wn.2d at 624, 626 (plurality); 632 (Madsen, J., concurring); 634 (Chambers, J., concurring in result). This Court acknowledged studies on the issue of cross-racial identification. Still, it reasoned that it was uncertain whether such a cautionary instruction would solve the unreliability problems inherent in eyewitness identifications "any more than would crossexamination, expert evidence, or arguments to the jury." *Id.* at 621-22.

In the wake of George Floyd's murder, this Court implored courageous action to acknowledge and end the legal system's participation in the devaluation and degradation of Black lives. Washington St. Supreme Court, Open Letter from the Wash. St. Supreme Court to the Members of the Jud. and the Legal Cmty, (June 4, 2020). "Too often in the legal profession, we feel bound by tradition and the way things have 'always' been. We must remember that even the most venerable precedent must be struck down when it is incorrect and harmful." Id.; see also, Garfield Cty. Transp. Auth. v. State, 196 Wn.2d 378, 390 n.1, 473 P.3d 1205 (2020) (overruling Price v. Evergreen Cemetery Co. of Seattle, 57 Wn.2d 352, 357 P.2d 702 (1960)); Order, State v. Towessnute, No. 13083-3, (July 10, 2020).

If Allen stands for the principle that Mr. Butler was not entitled to a cross-racial identification instruction under the circumstances of this case, it is time for Allen to be reexamined. Open Letter (June 4, 2020); Garfield, 196 Wn.2d at 390 n.1; Order No. 13083-3 (July 10, 2020). This reexamination is especially necessary because Allen does not represent a majority of this Court and is only a plurality decision. Between 2013 and 2021, Washington courts have heard the call to action to account for the legal system's role in perpetuating racial injustice. This Court should grant review to determine whether its analysis in Allen is consistent with this call to action and whether the denial of Mr. Butler's request for a cross-racial identification instruction requires reversal.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding, Mr. Butler asks this

Court to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b).

This brief complies with RAP 18.7 and is

approximately 2,394 words long.