FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/7/2021 4:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## SUPREME COURT NO. 1002769 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 81024-3-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

# CHAZ BUTLER,

Petitioner.

### STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW
E.	CONCLUSION5

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page Table of Cases
Washington State:
State v. Butler, No. 81024-3-I, filed August 2, 2021 (unpublished)
Statutes
Washington State:
RCW 9A.36.031
Rules and Regulations
Washington State:
RAP 13.4
Other Authorities
Historical Bill Report, HB 1442, http://lawfilesext. leg.wa.gov/biennium/1999-00/Pdf/Bill% 20Reports/ House%20Historical/1442%20BRH%20PL.pdf?q= 20210202113759

## A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondent, the State of Washington, asks this Court to deny the petition for review.

## B. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is <u>State v. Butler</u>, No. 81024-3-I, filed August 2, 2021 (unpublished).

## C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The relevant facts are set forth in the briefing before the Court of Appeals and in its opinion below.

# D. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

This Court should deny Butler's petition for review.

Neither of the issues he raises qualifies for review under RAP

13.4. The Court of Appeals thoroughly and correctly addressed the issues Butler raised below. The State's responsive briefing below, both in its brief of respondent and its response to Butler's motion to reconsider, thoroughly addressed Butler's claims.

The State files this short answer to point out that Butler continues to misapprehend the State's position in its motion below to publish the opinion of the Court of Appeals, which was denied. In Butler's petition for review, just as in his motion for reconsideration below, he asserts that the State's motion to publish the opinion meant that it "understands that this Court expanded the definition of third-degree assault,

making it easier to prove this crime than the legislature intended" and "creates new law." Pet. for Review at 6. As the State responded below, it did not assert any such thing. The State sought publication because the Court of Appeals' statutory interpretation clarified the type of transit workers that the legislature had always intended to be protected by the statute. The State believed that publication would have provided clarity to future courts faced with the same issue. It did not concede or assert in any way that the Court of Appeals' statutory interpretation "expanded" the statute beyond what the legislature originally intended. <sup>1</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As the State noted in its brief of respondent below, when the legislature in 1999 was considering the bill that amended RCW 9A.36.031(1)(b), proponents testified that the bill was "part of an overall plan to improve security on all transit systems throughout the state," and that "[r]aising this type of assault to a felony will help *private security people* be more effective." Historical Bill Report, HB 1442 (emphasis added), <a href="http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/1999-00/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/House%20Historical/1442%20BRH%20PL.pdf?q=20210202113759">http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/1999-00/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/House%20Historical/1442%20BRH%20PL.pdf?q=20210202113759</a>.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals was sound statutory interpretation of the plain meaning of RCW 9A.36.031(1)(b) and the transit personnel protected by it. The Court of Appeals carefully and properly determined that the plain meaning of the statute included contracted transit-security workers. In doing so, it rejected Butler's reading as leading to absurd results that the legislature did not intend. Rather than "expanding" the statute, the Court of Appeals merely disagreed with Butler's too-narrow reading.

The holdings of the Court of Appeals, that substantial evidence supported Butler's assault convictions and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by not giving a cross-racial-identification instruction, were correct. Butler's petition for review should be denied.

# E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied.

This document contains 599 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

DATED this 7th day of October, 2021.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: \_\_\_\_

IAN ITH, WSBA #45250

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002

### KING COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE - APPELLATE UNIT

# October 07, 2021 - 4:11 PM

### **Transmittal Information**

Filed with Court: Supreme Court

**Appellate Court Case Number:** 100,276-9

**Appellate Court Case Title:** State of Washington v. Chaz Robert Butler

## The following documents have been uploaded:

• 1002769\_Answer\_Reply\_20211007161001SC396257\_7849.pdf

This File Contains:

Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review

The Original File Name was 100276-9 STATES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW.pdf

### A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

travis@washapp.org

· wapofficemail@washapp.org

#### **Comments:**

Sender Name: Bora Ly - Email: bora.ly@kingcounty.gov

Filing on Behalf of: Ian Ith - Email: ian.ith@kingcounty.gov (Alternate Email: )

## Address:

King County Prosecutor's Office - Appellate Unit W554 King County Courthouse, 516 Third Avenue

Seattle, WA, 98104 Phone: (206) 477-9499

Note: The Filing Id is 20211007161001SC396257